

ARCHIVED - Archiving Content

Archived Content

Information identified as archived is provided for reference, research or recordkeeping purposes. It is not subject to the Government of Canada Web Standards and has not been altered or updated since it was archived. Please contact us to request a format other than those available.

ARCHIVÉE - Contenu archivé

Contenu archivé

L'information dont il est indiqué qu'elle est archivée est fournie à des fins de référence, de recherche ou de tenue de documents. Elle n'est pas assujettie aux normes Web du gouvernement du Canada et elle n'a pas été modifiée ou mise à jour depuis son archivage. Pour obtenir cette information dans un autre format, veuillez communiquer avec nous.

This document is archival in nature and is intended for those who wish to consult archival documents made available from the collection of Public Safety Canada.

Some of these documents are available in only one official language. Translation, to be provided by Public Safety Canada, is available upon request. Le présent document a une valeur archivistique et fait partie des documents d'archives rendus disponibles par Sécurité publique Canada à ceux qui souhaitent consulter ces documents issus de sa collection.

Certains de ces documents ne sont disponibles que dans une langue officielle. Sécurité publique Canada fournira une traduction sur demande.



_____ Research Report ______

Revalidation of the Custody Rating Scale for Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal Women Offenders

Ce rapport est également disponible en français. Pour en obtenir un exemplaire, veuillez vous adresser à la Direction de la recherche, Service correctionnel du Canada, 340, avenue Laurier Ouest, Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0P9.

This report is also available in French. Should additional copies be required, they can be obtained from the Research Branch, Correctional Service of Canada, 340 Laurier Ave. West, Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0P9.

Revalidation of the Custody Rating Scale for Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal Women Offenders

Geoffrey Barnum

&

Renée Gobeil

Correctional Service of Canada

May 2012

Copyright of this document does not belong to the Crown. Proper authorization must be obtained from the author for any intended use.

Les droits d'auteur du présent document n'appartiennent pas à l'État. Toute utilisation du contenu du présent document doit être approuvée préalablement par l'auteur.

Acknowledgements

The authors of this report wish to extend their appreciation to Nicole Davidson for clarifying the use of the Custody Rating scale and Jennie Thompson for her help with the analysis of the data in the current study. The authors are also very grateful to Andrew Harris, Jennie Thompson, and Dena Derkzen for their constructive feedback on an early draft of this report.

Executive Summary

Key words: *Custody Rating Scale, security classification, women offenders, Aboriginal offenders*

The CRS is an actuarial measure that consists of twelve items divided into subscales measuring institutional adjustment and security risk. Based on file information, staff complete the CRS producing a recommended security classification for each offender. The CRS recommendation is taken together with the professional judgment of staff to determine the appropriate initial security classification for each offender.

The last revalidation of the CRS was over eight years ago and the women offender population has continued to change in this time period. Therefore, a revalidation of the CRS focusing on Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders was considered timely. The CRS revalidation focused on all CRSs (N = 628) completed for women offenders between January 1, 2008 and December 31, 2009.

Results demonstrated that the CRS, when considered in conjunction with staff's professional judgment, led to security classification decisions reflective of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal women offenders' risk and institutional adjustment. Overall, the analyses indicated that for both groups CRS classifications were associated in the expected directions with offenders' risk, need, motivation, and reintegration potential. In general, offenders' CRS classifications were predictive of the more serious indicators of institutional adjustment: involvement in major institutional incidents and conviction of serious institutional charges. Offenders' CRS classifications were also predictive of discretionary release and return to custody with a new offence.

In general, these outcomes were better predicted by offenders' final security placement (based on both the CRS recommendation and staffs' professional judgment) than by the CRS alone. Though, as is the case with all actuarial measures, there continues to be room for improvement in the CRS, the results of the current study support the continued use of the CRS as a component of the initial security classification process for Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal women offenders.

Recent research has suggested the predictive ability of the CRS could be improved by incorporating measures of women offenders' needs. A preliminary analysis indicated that, at least for non-Aboriginal offenders, inclusion of level of need may be an area worthy of further attention.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements ii
Executive Summaryiii
Table of Contents iv
List of Tablesv
List of Appendices vi
Introduction1
Offender Classification1
Classification of Women Offenders2
Classification of Aboriginal Women Offenders5
Other Factors That May Predict Institutional Behaviour6
The Present Study7
Method
Sample
Data8
Measures
Analyses11
Results
Sample Descriptive Information
CRS Descriptive Information14
CRS Recommendation and Actual Decisions17
Associations Between the CRS and Relevant Measures
Predictive Validity
Exploratory Analyses of Additional Variables
Discussion
Validity of the CRS for Women Offenders
Exploratory Analysis of Dynamic Factors Utility
Future Directions and Conclusion40
References
Appendices

List of Tables

List of Appendices

Appendix A: Association of CRS Items with Outcomes of Interest	48
Appendix B: Association of DFIA Domains and Indicators with CRS Items	52

Introduction

Classification of offenders for security purposes is one of the most important decisions correctional organizations undertake (e.g., McConville, Morris, & Rothman, 1995). The decision to classify an offender to minimum, medium, or maximum security affects their access to the community, programming options, and freedom of movement within the institution (Blanchette & Motiuk, 2004; Bonta & Motiuk, 1992). The Corrections and Conditional Release Act (CCRA, 1992) stipulates that all federal offenders in Canada must be assigned a security classification of minimum, medium, or maximum. The classification must reflect the offender's institutional adjustment, escape risk, and risk to the public in the event of escape. Furthermore, the CCRA (1992) stipulates that the CSC must ensure that federal offenders are not placed in an environment more restrictive than appropriate, while simultaneously ensuring the protection of the public, staff, and other offenders.

In Canada, the initial classification of all federal offenders is completed by a parole officer or primary worker (Correctional Service of Canada [CSC], 2010). The security classification decision is based on the results of the Custody Rating Scale (CRS), an actuarial instrument intended to assess security risk and institutional adjustment, and takes into consideration clinical judgement, and, when required, psychological assessment. However, the CRS was developed with male offenders as they constitute the majority of Canada's offender population (Luciani, Motiuk, & Nafekh, 1996; Public Safety Canada, 2010). Since the implementation of the CRS, there have been criticisms of its use with Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal women (Webster & Doob, 2004a; 2004b), despite the positive results of validation studies conducted with these groups (Blanchette & Motiuk, 2004; Blanchette, Verbrugge, & Wichmann, 2002; Luciani et al., 1996). As such, the goal of this report is to examine the issues that surround the application of the CRS to Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal women and to examine whether it continues to be valid for these two populations.

Offender Classification

Structured and clinical classification

Methods of classification can be broadly divided into two categories: actuarial or structured and clinical. Essentially, actuarial measures are statistically-based and rely on

observable information (Grove, Zald, Lebow, Snitz, & Nelson, 2000). Actuarial and structured measures comprise items that can be scored to provide an indication of the associated risk. Once a measure is completed a final score results in a classification category. In contrast, clinical classification involves a professional collecting information and using his or her own knowledge and experience to classify the individual (Rice, 1997).

Due to their unstructured nature, clinical classification procedures have been criticized as subjective and difficult to replicate across observers (e.g., Grove et al., 2000; Rice, 1997). On the other hand, due to their objective nature, structured tools are easily replicable, easy to implement, and efficient (for a review see Grove et al., 2000). In security classification research, structured measures have been found to be highly consistent across observers and to result in lower classifications than those suggested by clinical procedures (Austin & Hardyman, 2004; Brennan, 1987; Buchanan, Whitlow, & Austin, 1986).

Given the advantages associated with the use of structured instruments in security classification, CSC has implemented the Custody Rating Scale, a structured measure, to help determine the initial security classification of all new federal offenders. As the CRS was originally developed with male offenders (Luciani et al., 1996), government agencies (e.g., Auditor General of Canada, 2003; Canadian Human Rights Commission, 2003), stakeholders (e.g., Canadian Association of Elizabeth Fry Societies, 2004), and academics (e.g., Hardyman & Van Voorhis, 2004; Webster & Doob, 2004a) have raised concerns about the use of the CRS with Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal women offenders.

Classification of Women Offenders

Hardyman and Van Voorhis (2004) completed an evaluation of classification practices for women offenders in the United States and identified three possible issues: validity, overclassification, and extent to which instruments are gender-informed.

Validity

Any measure that classifies individuals according to their security risk must have predictive validity (Kane, 1986), meaning that scores on the measure are associated with the behaviour that the measure attempts to predict. When validation studies have not been conducted, the extent to which a measure can predict the outcome of interest is unclear. For this reason, the use of actuarial or structured measures on correctional populations for which they have not been validated may be problematic (e.g., American Association for Correctional

Psychology, 2000; American Psychological Association, 2002). In Canada, although the CRS was not originally developed with women offenders, several studies have demonstrated its predictive validity with this group. In the first validation of the CRS, the scale was found to predict involvement in institutional incidents in a small sample of non-Aboriginal women (Luciani et al., 1996). Blanchette and colleagues (2002) also found that overall the CRS did predict institutional incidents in the expected direction. However, these studies have been criticized as reaching overly positive conclusions based on their results (Webster & Doob, 2004a; 2004b).

Moreover, other researchers have also contended that some of the factors that predict institutional incidents may differ by an offenders' gender (Hannah-Moffat & Shaw, 2001; Hardyman & Van Voorhis, 2004). It has been argued that unless these differences are taken into account, the predictive validity of security classification measures may be impacted (e.g., Hardyman & Van Voorhis, 2004; Webster & Doob, 2004a).

In Canada (Porporino, Luciani, Motiuk, Johnston, & Mainwaring, 1989) and the United States (Hardyman & Van Voorhis, 2004), security classification scales were originally developed and validated on male offenders. In the United States Hardyman and Van Voorhis (2004) found that the majority of correctional systems had not validated their security classification measures with women offenders. Furthermore, the validation studies that had been completed had insufficient sample sizes to conduct a thorough validation. In contrast, following the implementation of the CRS, two reports (Blanchette et al., 2002; Luciani et al., 1996) have indicated that although the CRS was developed with male offenders it has predictive validity for Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal women offenders.

Another indicator of the validity of a security classification tool is how often caseworkers adjust the rating of the classification measure to a classification that they feel is more appropriate (Brennan & Austin, 1997). In Canada, as in most jurisdictions, when a caseworker's professional judgment on a security classification is inconsistent with the recommendation provided by the actuarial measure, they need not assign the classification produced by the measure (CSC, 2010). Brennan and Austin (1997) recommended that a good classification measure should not require more than 20% of cases to be adjusted. Some research in the U.S. has indicated that, relative to their male counterparts, a greater proportion of women offenders' security classifications are adjusted (Brennan, 1998; Van Voorhis & Presser, 2001). However, research in Canada has

indicated that rates of inconsistency between CRS recommendations and actual classification for women offenders are within the appropriate range (19% for Aboriginal offenders and 14% for non-Aboriginal offenders; Blanchette et al., 2002) and similar to those for Aboriginal (22%) and non-Aboriginal (26%) male offenders (Grant & Luciani, 1998).

Over-classification

Over-classification is another possible issue in women's security classification. Essentially, some researchers have argued that when a security classification measure validated for men is used on women offenders, the measure may produce a higher security classification than is warranted by the women's risk (e.g., Austin, Chan, & Elms, 1993; Van Voorhis, Salisbury, Wright, & Bauman, 2008), which may influence access to programs, interventions, and opportunities. Moreover, over-classification is inconsistent with the requirement that offenders not be placed in an environment more restrictive than appropriate (CCRA, 1992).

That said, CRS revalidations focused on Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal women (Blanchette et al., 2002; Luciani et al., 1996) conducted to date have shown that the CRS is predictive of involvement in institutional misconducts for these groups. Involvement in both violent and non-violent incidents was shown to increase linearly with CRS classification, suggesting that the women are appropriately classified.

Note, other researchers have used the percentage of cases where an actuarial measure of risk recommendation is inconsistent with actual classification as an index of over-classification (e.g., Van Voorhis & Presser, 2001). This is not appropriate when the classification process explicitly allows for final security classification decisions that are different than the scale's recommended classification. Over-classification can only be demonstrated when actual security classification is higher than that required by a woman's risk.

Gender-informed classification

Gender-informed classification, in general, refers to a classification measure that is reflective of gender differences (Blanchette & Brown, 2006; Brennan, 2008). Concerns have been expressed with respect to whether, when the same measures are used for both men and women, some items or the weighting of items may be inappropriate for women (e.g., Brennan, 1998; Canadian Association of Elizabeth Fry Societies, 2004; Canadian Human Rights Commission, 2003; Webster & Doob, 2004a). Indeed, one researcher found that a genderinformed security reclassification scale resulted in recommended security classifications that

were more predictive of involvement in institutional misbehaviour among women offenders than were those derived from a scale developed for men (Blanchette, 2005).

Classification of Aboriginal Women Offenders

The concerns with respect to classification of women offenders are compounded when the offender is a member of a minority, such as Aboriginal women offenders (e.g., Jackson, 1999; Monture-Angus, 2000). That said, Blanchette and colleagues (2002) found that the CRS was valid for Aboriginal women offenders. In addition, the overall classification approach for Aboriginal women of which the CRS is a part, is reflective of their unique social history. In keeping with the Gladue decision (*R*. v. *Gladue*, 1999), when caseworkers are completing an Aboriginal women offenders' security classification, policy requires that they must consider unique background and systemic factors that affect Aboriginal offenders as part of their professional judgment (CSC, 2010). For example the caseworker must consider history of dislocation, unemployment due to lack of opportunities, lack or irrelevance of education, and history of substance abuse.

Over-representation or over-classification?

The difficulties that Aboriginal women offenders face are reflected by their overrepresentation in the justice system. First, Aboriginal women represent only 3% of Canadian women yet represent almost a quarter of all women offenders under the jurisdiction of CSC (Public Safety Canada, 2010). Second, a larger proportion of Aboriginal women offenders are represented at higher security ratings than non-Aboriginal women offenders (Blanchette et al., 2002). Finally, a greater proportion of Aboriginal women offenders are serving sentences for violent crimes (e.g., homicide and assault) than non-Aboriginal women (Public Safety Canada, 2010). That acknowledged, it is crucial to distinguish between over-classification and overrepresentation of Aboriginal women offenders. As reviewed in Gobeil (2008) overrepresentation refers to the situation where a greater proportion of one population (e.g., Aboriginal women offenders) than of other populations (e.g., non-Aboriginal women offenders) is classified to higher security levels. In contrast, over-classification occurs when Aboriginal women offenders are placed at higher security levels than is necessary based on the CCRA (1992) criteria described earlier.

Researchers have been divided on whether Aboriginal women offenders are overclassified or over-represented (Jackson, 1999; Monture-Angus, 2000). Unfortunately, most of the

research conducted in this area has focused solely or primarily on male offenders, and as such, the applicability of findings to women is unknown. Nonetheless, it is clear that many factors associated with involvement in institutional incidents are more prevalent in Aboriginal offenders (see Rugge, 2006 for a review of this issue). First, Aboriginal offenders tend to be younger (Kong & AuCoin, 2008; Trevethan, Moore, & Rastin, 2002), have higher recidivism rates (Bonta, Rugge, & Dauvergne, 2003; Gobeil & Barrett, 2007), more issues with substance abuse (Perreault, 2009), and have more needs concerning their family lives (Gobeil & Barrett, 2007; Kong & AuCoin, 2008; Perreault, 2009) relative to non-Aboriginal offenders. These issues are further compounded by the fact that Aboriginal offenders tend to have less education (Perreault, 2009; Trevethan et al., 2002), less employment experience (Perreault, 2009), and fewer employment skills (Trevethan et al., 2002) than non-Aboriginal offenders. These factors have all been found to be associated with risk, though much of the relevant research focused on non-Aboriginal offenders (e.g., Andrews & Bonta, 2010; Blanchette et al., 2002; Harer & Langan, 2001; Lowenkamp, Holsinger, & Latessa, 2001), and a number of these are included on the CRS. The current study will assist in differentiating between over-classification and overrepresentation of Aboriginal women offenders with respect to initial security classification.

Other Factors That May Predict Institutional Behaviour

The literature on factors that predict institutional misbehaviour has continued to grow since the CRS was implemented. For example, in a review of the literature, Farr (2000) concluded that women offenders should be classified based on their criminogenic need rather than the static risk factors traditionally used to predict institutional misbehaviour and reflected in the CRS. In the United States, Hardyman and Van Voorhis (2004) concluded that including a women offender's needs could greatly inform the process of initial security classification. Similarly, Blanchette and Brown (2006) noted in their review of classification practices in Canada and the United States that inclusion of criminogenic needs could improve the classification of women offenders.

Other researchers (e.g., Brennan, 2008; Wright, Salisbury, & Van Voorhis, 2007), government agencies (e.g., Auditor General of Canada, 2003; Canadian Human Rights Commission, 2003), and stakeholders (e.g., Canadian Association of Elizabeth Fry Societies, 2004) have criticized actuarial security classification instruments, in general, for not considering variables, such as gang membership (Mackenzie & Johnson, 2003) that have recently been

shown to be predictive of institutional adjustment. A preliminary examination of the predictive ability of such factors was included in the current study.

The Present Study

The current study was designed to address three areas. First, the validity of the CRS was examined. Second, the validity of the CRS when used on Aboriginal women offenders was explored. Finally, the usefulness of inclusion of other variables in the CRS when used with Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders was investigated.

To examine these issues several types of analyses were undertaken. First, the concordance rate of CRS classifications with staff member's final security decisions was examined. Second, the construct validity of the CRS was evaluated by examining the associations between CRS classifications and relevant domains such as substance abuse. Third, the predictive validity of the CRS was evaluated through an examination of the relationships between CRS classification and relevant offender behaviour and decisions. Fourth, throughout these analyses the results were contrasted with offender's actual security classification. Fifth, to address issues concerning a lack of validity of the CRS for Aboriginal women offender's results for this group of offenders were contrasted with non-Aboriginal offenders. Finally, a preliminary analysis of the predictive ability of other relevant measures was conducted.

Method

Sample

The study included the 684 CRSs completed with women offenders between January 1, 2008 and December 31, 2009. As some offenders were admitted on more than one occasion during this time period, a subset of offenders had multiple CRSs on file. Therefore, the 684 CRSs are from 628 individual women offenders. Based on the goals of the current research, women offenders were classified as either Aboriginal (n = 157; 25%) or non-Aboriginal (n = 471; 75%). A woman offender was classified as Aboriginal if she identified herself as being First Nations, Métis, or Inuit. All other offenders, including those who did not report their ethnicity (n = 5; 0.7%) were categorized as non-Aboriginal offenders.

The data used in the current study included all offenders and CRSs completed by women offenders during the study period. Therefore, the data in the current study represents the population of women offenders. As it is inappropriate to discuss the results of a study with population data in terms of *statistical* significance the results are interpreted for their *practical* significance.

Data

Data for each offender were obtained from the Offender Management System, CSC's computerized database of offender information. First, data that pertained to women offenders' CRSs were drawn; including CRS item scores, subscale totals, CRS recommendation, and actual classification decision. Second, data were retrieved on women offenders' demographic characteristics (e.g., age), risk, need, motivation, and reintegration potential. Third, information was drawn on women offenders' behaviour and decisions concerning their case. Specifically, each offender's involvement in institutional incidents, institutional charges, escapes, and escape-related behaviour was retrieved. In addition, discretionary release decisions and the offenders' post-release outcomes were analyzed. Finally, offenders' levels of need for each of the seven Dynamic Factor Identification and Analysis (DFIA) domains, as well as the DFIA gang affiliation indicator, were retrieved for exploratory analysis.

Measures

The CRS is an actuarial tool used by the CSC as part of the initial security classification of offenders as either minimum, medium, or maximum security (CSC, 2010). The CRS consists of twelve items comprising two subscales: institutional adjustment (5 items) and security risk (7 items). The items in the institutional adjustment subscale reflect factors that are designed to predict an offender's risk of committing institutional incidents and her ability to adjust to life in the institution (Luciani et al., 1996). In contrast, the security risk subscale provides an index of the danger that an offender would pose to the public (in a situation where she escaped or did not return from a temporary absence).

Based on file information a parole officer or primary worker assigns a rating to each item on the CRS (CSC, 2010). The items are weighted in terms of their contribution to risk and a score is produced for each subscale. The greater the score the greater risk that the offender poses. Scores that fall within certain ranges (CSC, 2010) on each subscale correspond to specific recommended security classifications. If the two subscales produce different security classification recommendations, the one corresponding to the higher classification supersedes the other.

Actual security classification refers to the offender's final security classification which is based on the evaluation of the offender's security risk by a parole officer or primary worker (CSC, 2010). The CRS is only one component of the security risk classification process and the parole officer or primary worker bases his or her final classification recommendation to the Institutional Head on his or her clinical appraisal, psychological assessments (when necessary), and the results of the CRS.¹

The Offender Intake Assessment is completed for each offender (CSC, 2007a; 2007b). From this assessment, each offender's risk, need, motivation, and reintegration potential were accessed for the current study. Offenders are assessed as low, moderate, or high for each measure based on specific items. First, risk to reoffend is rated by a staff member and reflects an offender's static criminal risk factors relating to criminal history, offence severity, and sex offence history. Second, need refers to the staff member's professional judgment of an offender's dynamic needs in seven domains: marital/family, associates/social interactions, attitudes,

¹ For Aboriginal women offenders, a staff member must take into consideration systemic historical factors into his or her judgment of Aboriginal women offenders' risk during the security evaluation (CSC, 2010).

substance abuse, community functioning, employment, and personal/emotional orientation.² Third, motivation refers to a staff member's professional judgment of an offender's willingness to address her needs by completing the programs and interventions that are identified as useful in her correctional plan. Finally, reintegration potential reflects an offender's probability of successfully returning to the community as a law-abiding citizen. Reintegration potential is automatically calculated by the Offender Management System based on information gathered during the Offender Intake Assessment. In exceptional cases, reintegration potential can be adjusted if, in the professional judgment of a staff member, the value calculated by the Offender Management System is not accurate (CSC, 2007a). Reintegration potential for Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal women offenders is based on scores from the CRS, risk, and need.

The predictive validity of the CRS was examined using several indices of an offender's behaviour. First, occurrence of institutional incidents and institutional charges were both included in the current study.³ Institutional incidents were categorized as major or minor. Major institutional incidents include, but were not limited to: murder, sexual assaults, possession and transportation of contraband. In contrast, minor institutional incidents included, but were not limited to: damage to government property, possession of unauthorized items, disciplinary problems, and being under the influence. Institutional charges were classified as either minor or serious based on the severity of the offence committed rather than the nature of the behaviour that precipitated the charges. Only cases where the offender was convicted on an institutional charge were considered in the current analysis. Second, whether an offender's post-release outcome – in terms of whether she returned to custody with or without a new offence – during the follow-up period was examined. In summary, the occurrence of institutional incidents, conviction of institutional charges, discretionary release decisions, and post-release outcome were all used to investigate the predictive validity of the CRS.

The DFIA is a component of the Offender Intake Assessment used to develop an

² An offender's risk is based on static and dynamic factors. Static factors are unchangeable and historical in nature, such as previous offences. In contrast, dynamic risk or need is based on factors that can change. For example, an offender who has a substance use problem can change through participation in a substance abuse program. Several offenders in the current study were assessed on these factors more than once during the study time frame. However, the offender's needs that were assessed to the time closest to when the CRS was completed were analyzed.

³ Although institutional incidents and institutional charges are related to each other they were both included in the current study. This decision was based on the fact that both measures provide a more detailed analysis of the predictive ability of the CRS than either measure in isolation.

offender's correctional plan (CSC, 2007a). The DFIA is designed to assess an offender's strengths and weaknesses in terms of seven domains. The seven domains an offender is evaluated on are: employment, marital / family, associates / social interactions, substance abuse, community functioning, personal / emotional orientation, and attitude. Each of these domains is evaluated by the use of 'yes or no' indicators that the staff member completes based on information in the offender's file. After all indicators have been completed the staff member classifies an offender into one of four categories of need on each of the seven domains. The categories are ordinal in nature and range from the factor being deemed an asset to community functioning to a considerable need for improvement in the specific domain.

Analyses

A series of analyses were conducted using the data described above. First, sample and scale descriptive statistics were computed. Second, the consistency between CRS recommendations and actual security classifications was examined. Third, the associations of the CRS subscales, overall CRS recommendation, and actual security classification with the measures of construct validity (i.e., static risk, need, reintegration potential, and motivation) were examined. Fourth, the percentage of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders at each CRS-recommended and actual security classification level who were involved in an institutional incident, were convicted of an institutional charge, were released, and were returned to custody were examined. Fifth, the relationship between these measures, the CRS subscales, overall CRS recommendation, and actual security classification to predict the occurrence of these behaviours and outcomes was examined using Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curves. Finally, the association between the DFIA domains and gang membership indicator and all outcome measures were explored.

In contrast to most evaluations of the validity of a classification measure no evaluations of internal consistency were included in the current analysis. Most measures are designed to measure a single construct (e.g., IQ as an index of intelligence). Thus the individual items are designed to evaluate the same construct and traditional measures of internal consistency are warranted. However, the items that constitute the CRS were not designed with the intent to measure a single construct (Luciani et al., 1996). Instead the items were designed to *predict* certain outcomes. To evaluate the contribution of each item the correlation of each item in the

CRS to the prediction of outcomes are presented in Appendix A. Furthermore, the majority of commonly used indices of internal consistency presume that the measure is based on a continuous scale. Although the items on the CRS are numerically scored the possible scores on the items are not continuous and typical internal consistency items could not be used.

Results

Sample Descriptive Information

Overall, 628 women offenders (with 684 CRSs completed)⁴ were included in the current study. Approximately three-quarters (471; 74%) of the offenders were non-Aboriginal and onequarter (157; 26%) were Aboriginal. Aboriginal offenders tended to be younger (M = 33, SD = 8.4) than non-Aboriginal offenders (M = 36, SD = 10.4). Table 1 summarizes the ethnicity of the women offenders. The majority (67%) of Aboriginal offenders identified themselves as First Nations, almost one-third identified as Métis, and the remainder identified themselves as Inuit. The majority (79%) of non-Aboriginal offenders identified themselves as White. Only a small number of non-Aboriginal offenders identified themselves as Black (11%), Latin American (0.5%), or Asian / East Indian (4%). There was a small group of women offenders (4%) that had no ethnicity information available in the Offender Management System. This group was categorized as non-Aboriginal under 'Other / Unknown', along with those offenders whose ethnicity was listed as 'other' or 'unknown' (2%).

	Number (%) of Offenders				
Ethnicity	Aboriginal		Non-Aboriginal		
First Nations	105	(67)			
Métis	46	(29)			
Inuit	6	(4)			
White			370	(79)	
Black			52	(11)	
Latin American			2	(0)	
Asian / East Indian			20	(4)	
Other / Unknown			27	(6)	

Table 1Ethnicity of Women Offenders for Whom CRSs Completed

Note. $N_{\text{Aboriginal}} = 157$. $N_{\text{Non-Aboriginal}} = 471$. The 'other/unknown' ethnicity category refers to women offenders for whom the Offender Management System entry was either 'other' or 'unknown'. No offenders were entered into this category if their ethnicity was known.

⁴ If an offender was admitted more than once in the period for which data were extracted, she may have had more than one CRS completed.

Irrespective of ethnicity, the vast majority (99%) of offenders were serving determinate sentences. On average, Aboriginal (M = 3.0 years, SD = 1.6) offenders' sentences were the same length as non-Aboriginal (M = 3.0 years, SD = 1.5) offenders' sentences. The majority of Aboriginal (71%) and non-Aboriginal (71%) offenders were convicted of at least one non-violent offence. In contrast, almost two-thirds (63%) of Aboriginal offenders but just over one-third (35%) of non-Aboriginal offenders were convicted of at least one violent offence. To further explore the group differences Table 2 summarizes the specific types of violent and non-violent offences of which offenders were convicted. A greater percentage of non-Aboriginal offenders were convicted of drug and property offences. A greater percentage of Aboriginal offenders were convicted of a ssault, homicide / attempted homicide, and other violent offences. The difference between the percentage of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders who committed other types of crime was less than five percentage points.

Table 2

	Number (%) of Offenders			
Offence Category	Abori	Aboriginal		original
Violent Offences				
Homicide & Attempted Homicide	19	(12)	13	(3)
Sexual Offences	10	(6)	25	(5)
Robbery	35	(22)	83	(18)
Assault	36	(23)	40	(9)
Other Violent Offences	34	(22)	59	(13)
Non-Violent Offences				
Drug Offences	12	(8)	62	(13)
Property Offences	61	(39)	211	(45)
Other Non-Violent Offences	96	(62)	275	(59)

Offences Committed by Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal Offenders

Note. $N_{\text{Aboriginal}} = 157$. $N_{\text{Non-Aboriginal}} = 471$. Offence data was missing for 1 Aboriginal offender and 7 non-Aboriginal offenders. Percentages do not add up to 100 as some offenders were convicted of more than one offence.

CRS Descriptive Information

Parametric statistical analyses are based on the assumption that data are continuous (e.g., Kutner, Nachtsheim, Neter, & Li, 2004). Although CRS items are scored numerically they are not continuous – that is, not every score is possible. For example, for the item 'number of prior

convictions' on the security risk subscale, if an offender has no prior convictions she receives a score of zero, if she has one prior conviction she receives a three, and so on. It is impossible for an offender to receive a score between any of the preset values. Given that the CRS is not continuous, traditional descriptive measures such as means are not appropriate (Kutner et al., 2004) and not reported.

To be able to analyze the data appropriately and ensure consistency across research reports, Blanchette and colleagues' (2002) methodology was used. First, the median value for all women offenders on each CRS item was calculated. Second, Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders were categorized as high if they were above the median and low if they were at or below the median.⁵ Finally, the percentage of offenders in either the high or low group for each item was examined for Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders. Table 3 summarizes the results of this analysis for each item on both CRS subscales. On the security risk subscale substantially more non-Aboriginal than Aboriginal offenders were classified as low for severity of current offence (30 percentage point difference [PPD]), street stability (25 PPD), prior parole / statutory release (20 PPD). On the institutional adjustment subscale substantially more non-Aboriginal offenders than Aboriginal offenders were classified as low on: alcohol / drug use (28 PPD), street stability (26 PPD), and age at time of sentencing (16 PPD). All other differences in the percentage of non-Aboriginal offenders classified as low relative to Aboriginal offenders were less than 16 PPD. There was no item where a greater percentage of Aboriginal offenders were classified as low than non-Aboriginal offenders. These results are consistent with Blanchette and colleagues' (2002) report.

⁵ For some items (e.g., sentence length and escape history) very few offenders had very long sentences or ever attempted escape. Therefore, the median split procedure resulted in uneven groups for these variables. Analyses concerning these skewed variables must be interpreted cautiously due to the low number of offenders that may be included in either the low or high group.

Table 3

	Percent of Scores				
	Abor	Aboriginal		boriginal	
CRS Subscale Items	Low	High	Low	High	
Security Risk Subscale					
Number of prior convictions	45	55	60	40	
Most serious outstanding charge	86	14	88	12	
Severity of current offence	25	75	55	45	
Sentence length	89	11	90	10	
Street stability	41	59	66	34	
Prior parole / statutory release	41	59	61	39	
Age at first federal admission	39	61	57	43	
Institutional Adjustment Subscale					
History of institutional incidents	58	42	68	32	
Escape history	88	12	92	8	
Street stability	39	61	65	35	
Alcohol / drug use	21	79	49	51	
Age at time of sentencing	49	51	65	35	

Distribution of High and Low Scores on CRS Items

Note. The "street stability" item appears in both CRS subscales, though the scoring for each subscale differs. $N_{\text{Aboriginal}} = 157$. $N_{\text{Non-Aboriginal}} = 471$.

Prior to detailed analysis of the CRS it was necessary to examine how the CRS subscales and the overall CRS classify women offenders. Based on the overall CRS classification just over half (52%) of the women offenders had a recommended classification of minimum security. Most of the remaining offenders (42%) were classified as medium security and a small minority (5%) as maximum security. Table 4 presents the distribution of security classifications for Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders based on both the CRS subscales and the overall CRS recommendation. Across ethnicities, the security risk subscale captured differences between offenders at minimum and medium security while the institutional adjustment subscale captured a subset of offenders at maximum security.

Based on the overall CRS recommendation, Aboriginal offenders were more often classified at medium security than non-Aboriginal offenders (see Table 4). The converse was true for non-Aboriginal offenders classified at minimum security. These patterns largely reflected differences in the security risk subscale. The same pattern of classification was found by Blanchette et al. (2002).

Table 4

Distribution of	CRS Subscale	and Overall	Security	Classifications
				- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·

	Number (%) of CRSs				
Security Classification	Abor	iginal	Non-Al	ooriginal	
Security Risk Subscale					
Minimum Security	55	(31)	316	(62)	
Medium Security	119	(68)	192	(38)	
Maximum Security	1	(1)	1	(0)	
Institutional Adjustment Subscale					
Minimum Security	158	(90)	476	(94)	
Medium Security	4	(2)	11	(2)	
Maximum Security	13	(7)	22	(4)	
Overall CRS Classification					
Minimum Security	53	(30)	306	(60)	
Medium Security	108	(62)	180	(35)	
Maximum Security	14	(8)	23	(5)	

Note. $N_{\text{Aboriginal}} = 157$. $N_{\text{Non-Aboriginal}} = 471$. Percentages may not sum to 100 due to rounding.

CRS Recommendation and Actual Decisions

An indicator that a classification instrument produces results with which staff members agree is how often the classification ultimately applied differs from the classification recommended by the CRS (Brennan & Austin, 1997). When differences exist this could indicate that, in the staff member's professional judgment, information other than that captured by the CRS is also relevant to the security classification decision for that offender.

Table 5 contrasts offenders' CRS classifications with their final security classification. An almost equal percentage of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders (73% and 72%, respectively) had a CRS classification that matched their final security classification. These concordance rates are slightly lower than those previously reported (Blanchette et al., 2002). For Aboriginal offenders an almost equal percentage of actual classifications were lower (13%) or higher (15%) than the CRS recommendation. The percentage of non-Aboriginal offenders whose final security classification was lower (13%) or higher (16%) than the CRS recommendation were essentially the same.

Table 5

	Final Security Classification							
	Mini	mum	Med	lium	Maxi	mum	То	otal
CRS Recommendation	n	(%)	n	(%)	n	(%)	n	(%)
		Abo	riginal Of	fenders				
Minimum	30	(17)	22	(13)	1	(1)	53	(30)
Medium	12	(7)	93	(53)	3	(2)	108	(62)
Maximum	0	(0)	10	(6)	4	(2)	14	(8)
Total	42	(24)	125	(71)	8	(5)	17	75
		Non-A	boriginal	Offender	s			
Minimum	236	(46)	68	(13)	2	(0)	306	(60)
Medium	50	(10)	121	(24)	9	(2)	180	(35)
Maximum	1	(0)	13	(6)	9	(2)	23	(5)
Total	287	(56)	202	(40)	20	(4)	50)9

CRS Recommendations and Final Security Classification Decisions

Note. Concordant cases appear on the shaded diagonal. Cases where final security classification was *higher / lower* than the CRS recommendation are *above / below* the diagonal, respectively. Percentages may not sum to 100 due to rounding.

Associations Between the CRS and Relevant Measures

A measure has convergent validity when a classification on that measure is associated with other theoretically related measures (Schwab, 2005). In the context of the current study the other relevant measures are: risk, need, reintegration potential⁶, and motivation. Table 6 presents these associations for both CRS subscales and the overall CRS classification.⁷ Overall, the associations of the four indicators were strongest with institutional adjustment subscale classification. The associations were weakest with security risk subscale classification and in between the two subscales for the overall CRS classification. Notwithstanding two minor

⁶ Reintegration potential is partially based on an offender's CRS recommendation. Therefore, the association between CRS and reintegration potential should be interpreted cautiously as the relationship will most likely be inflated due to the partial dependency of reintegration potential scores on CRS recommendation.

⁷ As both the CRS subscales and overall CRS classification data are not continuous Goodman-Kruskal's gamma (γ) was used as an index of the association between the variables (Howell, 2007). Gamma can be interpreted in the same fashion as a normal correlation coefficient.

exceptions (i.e., motivation with both security risk subscale and overall CRS recommendation) the relationships were stronger for non-Aboriginal offenders. All associations were moderate to strong and in the expected directions. These results provide support that the CRS and its associated subscales have convergent validity.

	Index of Relationship				
	CRS Subsc	ale	Overall CRS		
Measure	Institutional Adjustment	Security Risk	Classification		
	Aboriginal Offender	S			
Static Risk	.27	.22	.22		
Need	.32	.20	.25		
Reintegration Potential	50	26	33		
Motivation	56	25	32		
	Non-Aboriginal Offen	ders			
Static Risk	.60	.33	.36		
Need	.77	.41	.45		
Reintegration Potential	85	56	62		
Motivation	64	15	23		

Table 6

CRS Security Classifications and Associations with Risk, Need, Reintegration Potential, and Motivation.

Note. $N_{\text{Aboriginal}} = 156$. $N_{\text{Non-Aboriginal}} = 476$

Predictive Validity

The goal of security classification is to classify offenders to a security level which is not more restrictive than appropriate while ensuring the safety of the public and others around them (CSC, 2010). Therefore, the CRS should predict the occurrence of behaviours that jeopardize these goals, and is considered to have predictive validity if it can predict those behaviours at rates better than chance (Schwab, 2005). The predictive validity of the CRS was examined with respect to institutional behaviour, escapes, discretionary release, and post-release outcome.

Institutional behaviour

One of the challenges in conducting these analyses was determining the follow-up period. To maximize the number of offenders available for analysis a 3-month follow-up period was used for analyses of institutional behaviour.⁸ With a 3-month follow-up period, data were available for approximately 75% of both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders. Two aspects of institutional behaviour were examined: involvement in institutional incidents and institutional charges. Both measures were included as they both provide an index of behaviour that could pose a security risk or represent poor institutional adjustment.

Table 7 provides a summary of the percentage of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders involved in major and minor institutional incidents. As expected, the percentage of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders involved in major institutional incidents increased from minimum to maximum CRS classification. This pattern was similar for final security classifications. The percentage of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders involved in minor institutional incidents also increased by CRS and actual security classification. However, the increased offender involvement in minor institutional incidents from minimum to maximum was clearer when final security classification are associated with involvement in institutional incidents.

⁸ Using a one year follow-up period data from only 25% (N = 177) of all offenders was available for analysis. Using a six-month follow-up period data was only available from 45% (N = 311) of all offenders for analysis. This was deemed to be too great a loss of data.

Table 7

	Cases Involved in Institutional Incidents (%)					
-	Aboriginal	l Offenders	Non-Aborigin	nal Offenders		
Security Classification	Minor Major		Minor	Major		
CRS Recommendation						
Minimum	15	3	12	7		
Medium	15	14	20	8		
Maximum	18 ^a	45 ^a	22	17		
Actual Classification						
Minimum	7	0	15	5		
Medium	17	16	16	9		
Maximum	40^{a}	40^{a}	27	27		

Involvement in Institutional Incidents by Security Classification

Note. $N_{\text{Aboriginal}} = 131$. $N_{\text{Non-Aboriginal}} = 381$. Minor incidents include damage to government or personal property, possession of unauthorized items, information technology incidents, theft, fire, minor disturbance, disciplinary problems, and being under the influence. Major incidents include murder, hostage-taking, major disturbances, fights and assaults, sexual assaults, possession and transportation of contraband, and escape-related incidents. ^a There were only 11 Aboriginal offenders the CRS classified as maximum and 5 whose final classification was maximum. Therefore, these percentages should be interpreted cautiously.

Another measure of institutional behaviour is conviction of an institutional charge. Table 8 summarizes the percentage of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders who were convicted of minor and serious institutional charges. As CRS recommendation increased from minimum to maximum the percentage of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders convicted of minor and serious institutional charges increased. The results concerning actual security classification decisions were not as clear. Specifically, the percentage of Aboriginal offenders convicted of minor institutional charges classified to maximum and medium security did not differ. This may be due to the small number of Aboriginal offenders (n = 5) classified to maximum security; such a small number can lead to misleading percentages. All other results for final security classifications were as expected.

Table 8

	Cases Convicted of Institutional Charges (%)						
	Aboriginal	Offenders	Non-Aborig	ginal Offenders			
Security Classification	Minor Serious		Minor	Serious			
CRS Recommendation							
Minimum	36	3	22	8			
Medium	33	10	40	14			
Maximum	45 ^a	18^{a}	56	17			
Actual Classification							
Minimum	20	0	21	6			
Medium	40	9	40	14			
Maximum	40^{a}	40^{a}	53	40			

Major and Serious Institutional Convictions by Security Classification

Note. $N_{\text{Aboriginal}} = 131$. $N_{\text{Non-Aboriginal}} = 381$. Institutional charges are categorized as minor or serious based on their severity, not on the type of action leading to the charge.

^a There were only 11 Aboriginal offenders the CRS classified as maximum and 5 whose final classification was maximum. Therefore, these percentages should be interpreted cautiously.

The relationships of CRS classification, subscale classification, and final security classification with minor and major institutional incidents were examined (Table 9). For Aboriginal offenders, all the security classification measures had moderate to large associations with involvement in major institutional incidents. In contrast, overall CRS classification and CRS subscales were weakly associated with minor institutional incidents; there was a moderate association for final security classification. For non-Aboriginal offenders the associations of the CRS classification and its subscales with involvement in minor and major institutional incidents were relatively weak. However, there was a moderate relationship between final security classification and involvement in major institutional incidents. The relationships between each item on the CRS and occurrence of institutional incidents are presented in Appendix A (Table A1). The individual item relationships were relatively weak but most were in the expected direction. As expected, the strongest relationships between individual items and involvement in major or minor institutional incidents occurred with items on the institutional adjustment subscale. Nonetheless, the magnitude of the associations between institutional adjustment subscale items and involvement in minor or major institutional adjustment were not as strong as expected.

	Rank-I	Biserial Correla	ation Coefficie	ent $(r_{\rm rb})$
	Abori Offen	ginal ders	Non-A Offe	boriginal enders
-	Minor Incident	Major Incident	Minor Incident	Major Incident
CRS Subscales	mendent	mendent	mendent	meldent
Security Risk	.00	.25	.12	.08
Institutional Adjustment	.06	.29	.04	.11
Overall CRS Recommendation	.01	.42	.15	.09
Actual Classification	.20	.32	.05	.27

Table 9Association of CRS Subscales, Overall CRS Recommendation, and Actual Classification withInstitutional Incidents

Note. $N_{\text{Aboriginal}} = 131$. $N_{\text{Non-Aboriginal}} = 381$.

ROC curves were used to examine the ability of the CRS to predict an offender's involvement in an institutional incident (Hosmer & Lemeshow, 2000). An index of the predictive power of a measure based on ROC curves is the area under the curve (AUC). The AUC can range from 0.5 (chance prediction) to 1.0 (perfect prediction).⁹ In practice, a measure that produces an AUC of 0.6 or greater is considered an 'acceptable' predictor and a measure with an AUC of 0.7 or greater is considered a 'good' predictor.

Table 10 presents the AUC values for both the CRS classification and final classification in predicting the occurrence of minor and major institutional incidents. For Aboriginal offenders the CRS was a good predictor of involvement in major institutional incidents but it did not predict involvement in minor institutional incidents. Final security decisions were an acceptable predictor of involvement in both minor and major institutional incidents. For non-Aboriginal offenders the CRS recommendation had some predictive ability for minor institutional incidents but almost none for major institutional incidents. Actual security classification provided acceptable prediction of major institutional incidents but little predictive power for minor institutional incidents.

⁹ The number of offenders classified at maximum security was small relative to the remainder of the population. However, the AUC is not influenced by the inclusion of rare events or small groups (Bradley, 1997).

Table 10

	Area Under	the Curve (AUC)
Model	Aboriginal Offenders	Non-Aboriginal Offenders
Minor Institutional Incident		
CRS Recommendation	.51	.58
Actual Classification	.60	.53
Major Institutional Incident		
CRS Recommendation	.71	.54
Actual Classification	.66	.63

ROC Analyses: Predictive Ability of CRS Security Classification for Institutional Incidents

Note. $N_{\text{Aboriginal}} = 131$. $N_{\text{Non-Aboriginal}} = 381$.

The same analyses were repeated for conviction of institutional charges. Table 11 summarizes the associations of the CRS classification, CRS subscales, and actual security classification with conviction of minor and serious institutional charges. The associations of both CRS subscale classifications and conviction of serious institutional charges was moderate to strong for Aboriginal offenders. In contrast, the same associations were weak for non-Aboriginal offenders. The association between overall CRS recommendation and conviction of major institutional charges was moderate for non-Aboriginal offenders. Furthermore, the association between actual security classification and conviction of serious institutional charges for both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders were of moderate strength and of similar magnitude. The security risk subscale classification, overall CRS classification, and final security classification were all moderately associated with conviction of minor institutional charges for non-Aboriginal offenders. In contrast, only final security classification was associated with conviction of minor institutional charges for Aboriginal offenders. The associations of the individual items on the CRS with conviction of institutional charges are presented in Appendix A (Table A2). The relationships were relatively weak but the majority of the associations were in the expected direction. Those associations that were negative were negligible in strength. As was the case for the prediction of involvement in institutional incidents the magnitude of the associations between institutional adjustment subscale items and involvement in minor or major institutional adjustment were not as strong as expected.

Table 11

	Rank-l	Biserial Correla	ation Coefficie	ent $(r_{\rm rb})$
	Abori Offen	ginal iders	Non-A Offe	boriginal enders
Security Classification	Minor Serious Charge Charge		Minor Charge	Serious Charge
CRS Subscales				
Security Risk	.02	.23	.20	.13
Institutional Adjustment	.02	.28	.09	.07
Overall CRS Recommendation	.02	.28	.24	.17
Actual Classification	.15	.36	.24	.32

Relationship Between Security Classification and Conviction of Institutional Charges

Note. $N_{\text{Aboriginal}} = 131$. $N_{\text{Non-Aboriginal}} = 381$.

The AUC values for the prediction of conviction of institutional charges are summarized in Table 12. The CRS recommendation provided 'acceptable' or close to acceptable predictive power for conviction of minor or serious institutional charges for non-Aboriginal offenders. Actual security classifications resulted in predictions that, though of greater magnitude, still fell in the 'acceptable' range. With the exception of the lack of predictive ability of the CRS for minor institutional charges, the results were similar for Aboriginal offenders.

Table 12

ROC Analyses: Predictive Ability of Security Classification for Conviction of Institutional Charge

	Area Under	the Curve (AUC)
Model	Aboriginal Offenders	Non-Aboriginal Offenders
Minor Institutional Charge		
CRS Recommendation	.51	.62
Actual Classification	.58	.62
Serious Institutional Charge		
CRS Recommendation	.64	.59
Actual Classification	.68	.66

Note. $N_{\text{Aboriginal}} = 94$. $N_{\text{Non-Aboriginal}} = 217$.

In summary, the results presented in this section provide several indications of the CRS's predictive validity with respect to institutional behaviour. First, the percentage of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders involved in both major and minor institutional incidents were in the expected directions across security classifications. Second, the associations between CRS recommendations and involvement in major institutional incidents or being convicted of a serious institutional charge were moderate to strong for both groups of offenders. Third, CRS recommendations and final security decisions provided 'acceptable' predictive ability. However, the CRS did struggle to predict the occurrence of minor institutional incidents and minor institutional charges. Given that the CRS is intended to measure poor institutional adjustment, and that it predicts the more serious indicators thereof, limited predictive ability with respect to minor incidents and charges is of less concern.

Escapes

One of the goals of the security risk subscale (and the CRS in general) is to evaluate the risk an offender would present if she were to escape an institution. Due to the rarity of escapes, the frequency of escape-related behaviour was examined over a one-year follow-up. As a result of the long follow-up period, data were only available for 30% and 24% of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders, respectively. No Aboriginal offenders and only two non-Aboriginal offenders carried out any escape-related behaviour during the follow-up period. Within the time period specified no Aboriginal and only one non-Aboriginal offender actually escaped from custody. Therefore, it was not possible to perform any statistical analyses concerning the ability of the CRS and final security classification to predict involvement in escapes.

Discretionary Release

For offenders released within one year of the completion of the CRS, the ability of the CRS to predict whether release was discretionary was also examined.¹⁰ Due to the short followup period employed, relative to sentence length, the results reported in this section under represent offenders with longer sentences. Table 13 summarizes the percentage of Aboriginal

¹⁰ Although offenders in federal institutions have sentences of two years or more there are two situations in which an offender could be released within one year of admission. First, an offender is eligible for parole after serving less than a third of their sentence (CCRA, 1992). Therefore, an offender with a short sentence may reach their parole eligibility date within the one-year follow-up period. Second, some of the admissions included in the current study represent cases where an offender had already been released from custody but their release had been revoked and they were re-admitted. As the offender, in this situation, would have already served part of their sentence it is possible that they may have been re-released within the one-year follow-up period employed.

and non-Aboriginal offenders by CRS classification and final security classification granted discretionary release. As expected, for both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders, as CRS and final security classification increased the percentage of offenders granted discretionary release decreased. Although this pattern holds for both groups of offenders it is interesting to note that a smaller percentage of Aboriginal than non-Aboriginal offenders were granted discretionary release at each security level throughout the one-year follow-up period.

Table 13

	Discretionar	y Release (%)
Security Classification	Aboriginal Offenders	Non-Aboriginal Offenders
CRS Recommendation		
Minimum	50	76
Medium	24	55
Maximum	18^{a}	29
Actual Classification		
Minimum	61	84
Medium	22	41
Maximum	0^{a}	0

Percent of Offenders Granted Discretionary Release within One Year by Security Classification

Note. $N_{\text{Aboriginal}} = 122$. $N_{\text{Non-Aboriginal}} = 385$.

^a There were only 11 Aboriginal offenders the CRS classified as maximum and 5 whose final classification was maximum. Therefore, these percentages should be interpreted cautiously.

The relationships of the overall CRS recommendation, the CRS subscales, and actual security classifications with release during the one-year follow-up period were examined (Table 14). With the exception of the weak relationship between scores on the institutional adjustment subscale for both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders, all relationships were moderate to strong. As scores on the security risk subscale, overall CRS recommendation, and actual security classification increased, discretionary release became less likely. Overall, the pattern and strength of the relationships were similar for both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders. Individual item relationships are presented in Appendix A (Table A3). Most relationships were in the expected direction for both groups of offenders and tended to be larger in magnitude than the item-level relationships for the other outcomes examined in the current study. The relationships also tended to be of a greater magnitude for non-Aboriginal offenders.

Table 14

	Rank-Biserial Corr	relation Coefficient $(r_{\rm rb})$
Security Classification	Aboriginal Offenders	Non-Aboriginal Offenders
CRS Subscales		
Security Risk	27	25
Institutional Adjustment	09	09
Overall CRS Recommendation	27	27
Actual Classification	41	50

Relationship of Security Classification with Discretionary Releases

Note. $N_{\text{Aboriginal}} = 122$. $N_{\text{Non-Aboriginal}} = 385$.

ROC curves and AUC values were calculated to examine the predictive ability of the CRS recommendation and actual classification in terms of discretionary release. CRS recommendations were 'acceptable' at predicting discretionary release for both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders. The difference in AUC values for these two groups did not indicate any practical differences in the CRS's predictive ability. Offenders' actual security classification provided a 'good' predictor of discretionary release for both groups.

Table 15ROC Analyses: Predictive Ability of Security Classification for Granting of DiscretionaryRelease

	Area Under the	Curve (AUC)
Model	Aboriginal Offenders	Non-Aboriginal Offenders
CRS Recommendation	.64	.63
Actual Classification	.70	.75

Note. $N_{\text{Aboriginal}} = 122$. $N_{\text{Non-Aboriginal}} = 385$.

Post-Release Outcome

The final outcome examined as a measure of the CRS's predictive validity was the offenders' post-release outcome. Post-release outcome in the context of the current study refers to whether or not an offender was returned to custody, either with or without a new offence, within a one-year follow-up period. It is important to note that though the CRS was not originally intended to predict post-release outcome, it is now reflected in the reintegration

potential measure used to estimate offenders' likelihood of successful return to the community after release. As such, post-release outcome is a useful index of an offender's risk (which the CRS was designed to evaluate). Therefore, analyses of post-release outcome were conducted, but the role of CRS vis-à-vis this outcome should be kept in mind in interpreting the results.

Overall, 22% of the women offenders were returned to custody. A slightly greater percentage of Aboriginal (24%) offenders than non-Aboriginal (21%) offenders were returned to custody. Table 16 summarizes the percentage of offenders who were returned to custody. For both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders, as CRS and actual security classification increased the percentage of offenders who returned to custody increased. For any return to custody the differences between the three CRS security classifications, though not large, were in the expected direction. The results concerning the maximum security classification based on an offender's actual classification were difficult to interpret due to the extremely small number of offenders in this group. Nonetheless, the percentage of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders who were returned to custody differed in the expected direction from medium to minimum security classification.

Table 16

	(Offenders Returned	to Custody (%	6)
_	Aborigina	1 Offenders	Non-Abori	ginal Offenders
Security Classification	Any Return	Return with Offence	Any Return	Return with Offence
CRS Recommendation				
Minimum	23	0	21	2
Medium	24	6	21	5
Maximum	30 ^a	20^{a}	25	8
Actual Classification				
Minimum	22	0	15	2
Medium	27	8	35	5
Maximum	0^{a}	0^{a}	13	13

Return to Custody and Security Classification

Note. $N_{\text{Aboriginal}} = 90$. $N_{\text{Non-Aboriginal}} = 263$.

^a There were only 11 Aboriginal offenders the CRS classified as maximum and 5 whose final classification was maximum. Therefore, these percentages should be interpreted cautiously.

The relationships of the overall CRS recommendation, the CRS subscales, and actual security classifications with post-release outcome during the one-year follow-up period were examined (Table 17). The overall CRS classification and the institutional adjustment subscale were strongly and moderately related to return with an offence for Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders, respectively. There was little to no relationship between either of the security classification measures and any return to custody for both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders. In other words, though the CRS was not designed to evaluate post-release outcome, there was some association of CRS classification and return to custody with offence. This association increased confidence in the predictive validity of the measure. For completeness, the individual CRS item and post-release outcomes are summarized in Appendix A (Table A4). Although the majority of the associations were in the expected direction several of them were actually in the opposite direction (i.e., negative). The majority of the negative direction associations were very weak. However, there were some exceptions. The association of the security risk subscale item 'prior parole / statutory release, sentence length, and escape history' was negative only for Aboriginal offenders. The association of 'severity of current offence' was moderately negative for non-Aboriginal offenders only. This means that lower (i.e., more negative) scores on these CRS items were associated with higher rates of return to custody.

Table 17

	Rank	-Biserial Correlat	tion Coeffici	ient $(r_{\rm rb})$
	Abor Offe	riginal nders	Non-A Off	Aboriginal fenders
	Any	Return with	Any	Return with
Security Classification	Return	Offence	Return	Offence
CRS Subscales				
Security Risk	01	.12	02	.16
Institutional Adjustment	.05	.47	.04	.20
Overall CRS Recommendation	.04	.49	.02	.29
Actual Classification	02	.21	.22	.31

Relationships between Security Classification and Return to Custody

Note. $N_{\text{Aboriginal}} = 90$. $N_{\text{Non-Aboriginal}} = 263$.

AUC values were calculated to determine how well the CRS recommendation and actual classification decisions predicted post-release outcome (Table 18). With respect to the prediction of any return to custody, the CRS was not predictive for either group of offenders. For Aboriginal offenders, the same was true for actual security classification; for their non-Aboriginal counterparts, however, actual security classification was 'acceptably' predictive of any return to custody. In contrast, the CRS classification had 'good' and 'acceptable' predictive ability for return with a new offence for Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders, respectively. Actual security classification was as predictive of a return with a new offence as the CRS classification for non-Aboriginal offenders. In contrast, actual security classification was less predictive of return with a new offence than the CRS classification, but still 'acceptably' predictive.

Table 18

ROC Analyses: Predictive Ability of Security Classification for Return to Custody

	Area Under t	he Curve (AUC)
Model	Aboriginal Offenders	Non-Aboriginal Offenders
Any Return to Custody		
CRS Recommendation	.52	.51
Actual Classification	.51	.61
Return with a New Offence		
CRS Recommendation	.75	.64
Actual Classification	.61	.64

Note. $N_{\text{Aboriginal}} = 90$. $N_{\text{Non-Aboriginal}} = 263$.

Exploratory Analyses of Additional Variables

Some researchers have expressed concerns that the CRS, particularly for women offenders, does not include variables that have been shown to be associated with risk (Brennan, 2008; Farr, 2000; Hardyman & Van Voorhis, 2004). Many of the variables that researchers have indicated may be associated with risk are included on the DFIA. Therefore, to examine the validity of these concerns the associations between the level of need on each of the DFIA domains and the outcomes of interest were examined.

The extent to which level of need on the DFIA domains was associated with scores on the individual CRS items were examined (Appendix B). The most notable associations were the

large number of moderate to strong associations of items on both subscales to level of need on the substance abuse domain. The majority of items on the institutional adjustment subscale were also moderately associated with level of need on the employment and personal / emotional orientation domain. Overall, these results indicate that for certain domains the CRS items capture the level of need of women offenders.

The relationships found for Aboriginal offenders between DFIA domain need scores and the outcome measures analyzed above are summarized in Table 19. Overall, gang affiliation was not associated with any of the outcomes. This may have been due to the fact that only 15% of the Aboriginal women were identified as being affiliated with gangs. This would have made the identification of a relationship extremely difficult (Kutner et al., 2004). For most of the outcomes, there tended to be a DFIA domain which had a relationship with the outcome of interest of moderate magnitude and greater than the corresponding relationship of the CRS. However, no single DFIA domain emerged as predictive of all related outcomes, and no clear pattern emerged in terms of either institutional behaviour (i.e., minor / major incidents and minor / serious charges), discretionary release, or return to custody.

The relationships of the DFIA domains and gang indicator with the outcomes of interest were also investigated for non-Aboriginal offenders (Table 20). As was the case for Aboriginal offenders, gang affiliation had little to no association with any of the outcomes investigated in the current study; again, low rates of gang affiliation (6%) may have contributed. In contrast to the results with Aboriginal offenders there were some patterns of association. First, need on the substance abuse domain was weakly to strongly associated with all outcomes investigated in the current study except involvement in minor incidents. Second, need on the marital / family domain was moderately to strongly related to discretionary release and both post-release outcomes. Finally, level of need on all DFIA domains with the exception of the employment and attitude domains was moderately associated with involvement in major institutional incidents. These patterns provide some preliminary evidence that, at least for non-Aboriginal offenders, level of need on some DFIA domains may contribute to the security classification process.

Table 19

			Strer	igth of Associ	ation		
DFIA Domain or Indicator	Minor Incident	Major Incident	Minor Charge	Serious Charge	Release Type	Any Return	Return with Offence
Employment Domain	16	.03	.21	.13	32	.02	17
Marital / Family Domain	.23	.03	18	.19	11	.06	.04
Associates / Social Interaction Domain	02	01	.17	-00	19	60.	.24
Substance Abuse Domain	.02	.06	05	.02	09	.15	.12
Community Functioning Domain	.32	03	60.	.05	15	.04	.50
Personal / Emotional Orientation Domain	.04	.14	16	.39	04	07	.10
Attitude Domain	02	05	60.	.19	13	26	00.
Gang Membership / Affiliation Indicator ^a	06	.15	.13	13	03	04	.11
Ν		1.	31		122		90
Follow-Up Period		3 mc	onths		1 year	1 year fro	m release
<i>Note.</i> For the DFIA domains, analyses compared thu improvement (DFIA-R only), (2) those having some	ree levels: (1) th (DFIA) or mod	ose with the fact erate (DFIA-R)	or seen as an a need for improv	sset, no immedia vement, and (3)	the need for implifience the formation of the second secon	rovement, or lo isiderable (DFI	w need for A) or a high

(DFIA-K) need for improvement; higher scores represent more need. The gang membership/affiliation indicator was dicnotomous (yes or no). Strength of association was calculated using rank-biserial correlations ($r_{\rm h}$) for the DFIA domains and Cramer's Phi ($r_{\rm 0}$) for the gang membership/affiliation indicator. ^a Only 15% (20) of offenders were affiliated with a gang. Therefore, the relationships must be interpreted cautiously.

Table 20

Offenders
original
Non-Ab
f Interest:
Outcomes o
with 0
licators
d Inc
ns an
omai
Ω
DFIA
of
sociation .
A_{5}

			Strer	igth of Assoc	iation		
DFIA Domain or Indicator	Minor Incident	Major Incident	Minor Charge	Serious Charge	Release Type	Any Return	Return with Offence
Employment Domain	01	.05	.08	.10	24	.14	.35
Marital / Family Domain	.13	.26	.04	02	17	.17	.36
Associates / Social Interaction Domain	.07	.19	01	-00	12	.12	.19
Substance Abuse Domain	.04	.24	.22	.15	41	.34	.38
Community Functioning Domain	.22	.21	01	13	13	60.	21
Personal / Emotional Orientation Domain	02	.20	60.	.08	23	.14	.02
Attitude Domain	11	.04	.16	00.	08	08	04
Gang Membership / Affiliation Indicator ^a	.05	.02	01	01	05	03	90.
N		3,	62		384		263
Follow-Up Period		3 mc	onths		1 year	1 year fr	om release
<i>Note.</i> For the DFIA domains, analyses compared thr improvement (DFIA-R only), (2) those having some (DFIA-R) need for improvement; higher scores repre association was calculated using rank-biserial correla ^a Only 6% (21) of offenders were affiliated with a ga	ree levels: (1) th (DFIA) or mode sent more need ations (r_{tb}) for th ng. Therefore, ti	ose with the fact srate (DFIA-R) The gang mem e DFIA domain he relationships	or seen as an a need for improv bership/affiliati s and Cramer's must be interpr	sset, no immedia vement, and (3) on indicator wa Phi (r_{Φ}) for the eted cautiously.	ate need for imp those having con s dichotomous (gang membersh	rovement, or lo nsiderable (DF) yes or no). Str ip/affiliation in	w need for A) or a high ingth of dicator.

Discussion

One of the first steps in the admission of women offenders into the correctional system is the security classification process. An important component of this process is the completion of the CRS. The current study focused on the validity of the CRS when applied to women offenders as a whole, the validity of the CRS when applied to Aboriginal offenders, and an exploratory analysis of the potential utility of including other variables related to criminogenic need in the CRS.

Validity of the CRS for Women Offenders

The CRS was originally developed with a sample of non-Aboriginal male offenders over two decades ago (Porporino et al., 1989). Although the CRS has since been validated for use with both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal women offenders (Blanchette et al., 2002; Luciani et al., 1996), some critics have expressed concerns that the CRS should not be used in its current form with women offenders (Webster & Doob, 2004a; 2004b). Furthermore, for any standardized evaluation measure to remain valid it must be periodically checked as the population it is applied to changes (e.g., Austin, 2003; Hardyman & VanVoorhis, 2004). Recent studies have indicated that the characteristics of the offender population in Canada continue to change (Babooram, 2008). Therefore, as the last revalidation of the CRS was conducted over eight years ago the current study was deemed prudent.

In general, the CRS, in conjunction with the professional judgment of staff, continues to be an important tool in the security classification process. As with all structured classification measures there is room for improvement in several areas. Even with these issues in mind, in general, offenders' CRS classifications were related to and allowed for prediction of events that the CRS was designed to evaluate.

Concordance Rates

An indicator of the face validity of the CRS is how often staff members alter the CRS security classification to a different final security classification. Relative to Blanchette et al.'s (2002) revalidation study a slightly larger percentage of women offenders' CRS classifications were adjusted in this study. The concordance rates were almost the same for Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders.

These results have two primary implications. First, the lower concordance rates could indicate that staff members perceive that the CRS may not capture all the factors relevant to making a security classification. Second, there was little difference between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders in terms of staff members increasing or decreasing the CRS security classification. If staff felt that the CRS was over- or under-classifying either group we would expect to see a difference in the percentage of offenders being placed at higher or lower security levels than the CRS recommendation. As such, these results lead to the inference that while staff may perceive that certain factors are not captured in the CRS, they do not perceive a systematic bias in CRS results.

Convergent Validity

Offenders' CRS-based classifications were moderately to strongly associated with the conceptually relevant constructs of need, risk, reintegration potential, and motivation. As expected both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders' levels of risk and need increased as their security classification increased. Furthermore, as both groups of offenders' CRS classification increased their reintegration potential and motivation decreased. For both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders the institutional adjustment subscale tended to be more strongly associated with risk, need, reintegration potential, and motivation than the security risk subscale. These results parallel those of Blanchette and colleagues (2002) study. Overall, the CRS has convergent validity for both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders.

Predictive validity

An important form of validity for any structured security classification measure is predictive validity. The predictive validity of the CRS was examined with respect to several outcomes. These outcomes can be broadly classified as institutional outcomes (i.e., involvement in minor / major institutional incidents and conviction of minor / serious institutional charges) and non-institutional outcomes (i.e., discretionary release, any return to custody, and return to custody with a new offence).

CRS classification had mixed predictive power for institutional outcomes according to both the specific outcome and the offender's ethnicity. First, on its own the CRS had little predictive ability for involvement in *minor* institutional incidents. In contrast, the CRS did have 'good' predictive ability for involvement in *major* institutional incidents but only for Aboriginal offenders. Second, in terms of conviction of institutional charges the results were also mixed.

The CRS classification provided an 'acceptable' amount of predictive ability for conviction of minor institutional charges but only for non-Aboriginal offenders. Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders' CRS classifications provided an 'acceptable' and almost 'acceptable' predictive power for conviction of *serious* institutional charges, respectively. Though these results are difficult to interpret as CRS classification provided more predictive power for some outcomes for Aboriginal offenders and better predictive power of other outcomes for non-Aboriginal offenders, overall, as would be expected, an offender's CRS classification had the strongest predictive power for the most serious institutional outcomes.

Despite the mixed results for institutional outcomes reported above the most important outcomes of the use of the CRS in the security classification process is the predictive ability of final security placement – that is, the placement that reflects the CRS results, staff's professional judgment and, if appropriate, psychological assessment. As the CRS is only a component of the security classification process, results for the final security placement must also be considered. When the predictive ability of final security classification was examined for all institutional outcomes the results were more positive. With the exception of the prediction of minor institutional incidents for non-Aboriginal offenders, final security classification had 'acceptable' or almost 'acceptable' predictive ability for all outcomes. Again, it is not surprising that final security classification is better at predicting major institutional incidents, as they constitute a much greater security risk.

Another outcome investigated in the current study was the ability of the CRS and final security classification to predict discretionary release. Discretionary release was included in the current study given that it is an index of risk as evaluated by the Parole Board of Canada. In making a decision about discretionary release the Board's primary concern is to preserve the safety of the public (Parole Board of Canada, 2009). Both an offender's CRS and final security classification provided 'acceptable' and 'good' predictive ability, respectively, for both groups of offenders. As expected, the security risk subscale of the CRS was more strongly associated with discretionary release decisions than was the institutional adjustment subscale.

One of several factors that the PBC takes into consideration in reaching discretionary release decisions is the offender's security level (Parole Board of Canada, 2009); as such, CRS classification and discretionary release may have been partially confounded in the current study. However, the predictive ability of both the CRS and final security classification was quite strong

and this minor confound is therefore unlikely to be able to fully explain this ability. In summary, an offender's CRS security classification predicted discretionary release, indicating that the CRS does have predictive validity for this outcome.

The final predictive validity outcome was post-release outcome. Though the CRS is not intended to predict post-release outcome, this outcome was included as a second proxy measure of risk. Both the CRS and final security classification had little predictive ability for any return to custody. CRS classification provided 'good' and 'acceptable' predictive ability for a return to custodywith a new offence for Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders', respectively. For reasons that are unclear an Aboriginal offender's final security classification did not provide as much predictive power as her CRS classification. Overall, both the CRS and final security classification were more predictive of returns to custody with a new offence, which is in keeping with the fact that this outcome is reflective of greater risk.

Finally, at the item level the associations between individual items and outcomes of interest were weaker than expected. The most positive results were for the predictive ability of the security risk items and discretionary release. Only three items were not strongly associated with discretionary release. The results concerning the other outcomes were less positive and the direction and strength of associations for some items were weaker than expected.

In summary, the CRS in conjunction with staff members' professional judgement provide 'acceptable' prediction of the majority of institutional and non-institutional outcomes. Predictive ability was greater for the more serious indicators of institutional maladjustment and risk. There are areas where the predictive ability of the CRS could be greater. While the CRS, like most structured instruments, has room for improvement, in conjunction with staff members' professional judgment, it predicts the occurrence of most relevant institutional behaviours and outcomes.

Aboriginal Women Offenders and the CRS

One of the primary goals of the current study was to evaluate the applicability of the CRS to Aboriginal offenders. The results of the current study clearly indicate Aboriginal offenders are over-represented at higher security levels based on both CRS classifications and staff members' final security decision. Specifically, a greater percentage of Aboriginal offenders are placed at medium security and a smaller percentage at minimum security than non-Aboriginal offenders.

The percentages of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders classified at maximum security were similar.

Although it is not clear whether Aboriginal offenders are also over-classified, there are several results in the current study which suggest that they are not. First, a larger percentage of Aboriginal offenders were convicted of violent crimes. This finding indicates that the Aboriginal women were higher risk, which is in keeping with a higher security classification. Second, the percentage of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders placed at a lower security level than the CRS recommended did not substantially differ. This result indicates that staff members do not perceive the CRS as over-classifying Aboriginal offenders. Together these results support the interpretation that Aboriginal offenders are over-represented at higher security levels because they have higher levels of risk rather than because they are over-classified.

Also notable is the similarity of the convergent and predictive validity results for Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders. Though indices of convergent validity tended to be a bit weaker for Aboriginal offenders, all associations were still moderate to strong in magnitude. Second, no clear pattern emerged that indicated that the CRS was systematically more or less predictive of outcomes of interest for Aboriginal offenders. In summary, there is no clear evidence to indicate that the CRS is systematically over-classifying Aboriginal offenders.

Exploratory Analysis of Dynamic Factor Utility

Researchers and policy makers have criticized the CRS for not considering an offender's criminogenic needs during the security classification process. To address some of these concerns, the relationship between level of need on the seven domains of the DFIA and the outcomes used to assess the predictive validity of the CRS were examined.

The results of these analyses were difficult to interpret. For both groups of offenders, for each outcome of interest there was usually an association between level of need on at least one DFIA domain that was of the same or greater magnitude as the relevant association with the CRS. For Aboriginal offenders there was no DFIA domain that was consistently associated with the assessed outcomes. In contrast, some preliminary patterns emerged for non-Aboriginal offenders. Specifically, level of need on the substance abuse domain was moderately to strongly associated with all outcomes except involvement in minor institutional incidents. This result is consistent with previous research findings that substance abuse is associated with negative outcomes such as those analyzed in the current study for both men and women (e.g., Andrews et

al., in press; Blanchette & Brown, 2006). Further examination of the data revealed that the majority of Aboriginal offenders (90%) had high levels of need on the substance abuse subscale. This would make it very difficult to find any association between the outcomes and this domain (Kutner et al., 2004). Furthermore, level of need on the marital / family domain was moderately to strongly associated with the granting of discretionary release and post-release outcomes. Andrews and colleagues (in press) recently found that level marital / family need was associated with recidivism for both men and women; therefore, this finding was not surprising. It is unclear why the same associations were not observed for Aboriginal offenders. The lack of relationship may be due to the different structure and values of Aboriginal families relative to non-Aboriginal people (e.g., Statistics Canada, 2008). Overall, these results provide some early evidence that including level of need in some areas may be beneficial to security classification of women offenders.

That said, further investigation in this area is required because it is unclear whether the associations between the DFIA domains and the outcomes overlap with or are independent from those of the CRS items. Some of the items in the CRS are also reflected in various DFIA domains. For example, the street stability item on both CRS subscales encompasses factors including employment / education, marital / family adjustment, and interpersonal relationships. Indeed, there were correlations of weak to strong magnitude between CRS items and DFIA domains. If level of need explains the same variance as CRS items in outcome scores than the inclusion of both would be redundant.

Future Directions and Conclusion

Overall, the results of the current study were in the expected direction. Relative to previous studies of the applicability of the CRS to women offenders (Blanchette et al., 2002; Luciani et al., 1996) the results of the current study are not as promising. Nonetheless, security classification as a whole is consistently predictive of the most serious indicators of risk and institutional adjustment. Study results support that the current approach to the initial security classification of women offenders allows for the protection and safety of the public, other offenders, and staff. Furthermore, there was no evidence that Aboriginal women offenders are over-classified relative to non-Aboriginal women offenders.

Clearly, as with all structured classification measures, there remains room for improvement with the CRS. The current study has identified some areas which may be worthy of

further attention if efforts to ameliorate the initial security classification of women offenders are pursued. In particular, should this amelioration be pursued an evaluation of certain individual items on each of the CRS subscales should be examined and the potential inclusion of level of need on dynamic factors could be considered.

References

- American Association for Correctional Psychology. (2000). Standards for psychology services in jails, prisons, correctional facilities, and agencies. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 27, 433-494.
- American Psychological Association. (2002). Ethical principles of psychologists and code of conduct. *American Psychologist*, *57*, 1060-1073.
- Andrews, D. A., & Bonta, J. (2010). *The psychology of criminal conduct* (5th ed.). New Providence, NJ: LexisNexis Group.
- Andrews, D. A., Guzzo, L., Raynor, P., Rowe, R. C., Rettinger, L. J., Brews, A, et al. (2012).
 Are the major risk/need factors predictive of both female and male reoffending? A test with the eight domains of the Level of Service/Case Management Inventory.
 International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology, 56, 113-133.
- Auditor General of Canada. (2003). Correctional Service Canada Reintegration of Women Offenders. Ottawa, ON: Office of the Auditor General of Canada. Retrieved from http://www.oag-bvg.gc.ca/internet/docs/20030404ce.pdf
- Austin, J. (2003). Findings in prison classification and risk assessment. *National Institute of Corrections Prisons Divisions – Issues in Brief.* Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Federal Bureau of Prisons.
- Austin, J., Chan, L., & Elms, W. (1993). Indiana department of corrections women classification study (NIC Accession No. 011984). Washington, DC: National Institute of Corrections. Retrieved from http://nicic.gov/pubs/1993/011984.pdf
- Austin, J., & Hardyman, P. L. (2004). Objective prison classification: A guide for correctional agencies (NIC Accession No. 019319). Washington, DC: National Institute of Corrections. Retrieved from http://nicic.gov/pubs/2004/019319.pdf
- Babooram, A. (2008). The changing profile of adults in custody, 2006/2007. *Juristat, 28*(10). Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada.
- Blanchette, K. (2005). Field-test of a gender-informed security re-classification scale for female offenders. (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Carleton University, Ottawa, ON.

Blanchette, K., & Brown, S. L. (2006). The assessment and treatment of women offenders: An

integrative perspective. West Sussex, England: John Wiley & Sons.

- Blanchette, K., & Motiuk, L. L. (2004). Taking down the straw man: A reply to Webster and Doob. *Canadian Journal of Criminology and Criminal Justice*, *46*, 621-630.
- Blanchette, K., Verbrugge, P., & Wichmann, C. (2002). The custody rating scale, initial security level placement, and women offenders (Report No. R-127). Ottawa, ON: Correctional Service of Canada. Retrieved from http://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/text/rsrch/reports/r127 /r127_e.pdf
- Bonta, J., & Motiuk, L. L. (1992). Inmate classification. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 20, 343-353.
- Bonta, J., Rugge, T., & Dauvergne, M. (2003). *The reconviction rate of federal offenders*. Ottawa, ON: Solicitor General of Canada. Retrieved from http://www.publicsafety.gc.ca /res/cor/rep/_fl/2003-02-rec-rte-eng.pdf
- Bradley, A. P. (1997). The use of the area under the ROC curve in the evaluation of machine learning algorithms. *Pattern Recognition*, *30*, 1145-1159.
- Brennan, T. (1987). Classification for control in jails and prisons. In D. Gottfredson & M. Tonry (Eds.), *Prediction and Classification: Criminal Justice Decision Making* (pp. 323-366). Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Brennan, T. (1998). Institutional classification of females: Problems and some proposals for reform. In R. Zaplin (Ed.), *Female offenders: Critical perspectives and effective intervention* (pp. 179-204). Gaithersburg, ML: Aspen Publishers.
- Brennan, T. (2008). Institutional assessment and classification of female offenders: From robust beauty to person-centred assessment. In R. Zaplin (Ed.), *Female offenders: Critical perspectives and effective intervention* (2nd ed., pp. 283-322). Sudbury, MA: Jones and Bartlett Publishers.
- Brennan, T., & Austin, J. (1997). Women in jail: Classification issues (NIC Accession No. 013768). Washington, DC: National Institute of Corrections. Retrieved from http://nicic.gov/pubs/1997/013768.pdf
- Buchanan, R. A., Whitlow, K. L., & Austin, J. (1986). National evaluation of objective prison classification systems: The current state of the art. *Crime & Delinquency*, *32*, 272-290.

Canadian Association of Elizabeth Fry Societies. (2004). Executive Director's report. Retrieved

from http://www.elizabethfry.ca/areport/2003-01/english/edreport.htm

- Canadian Human Rights Commission. (2003). Protecting their rights: A systemic review of human rights in correctional services for federally sentenced women. Ottawa, ON: Author. Retrieved from http://www.chrc-ccdp.ca/pdf/reports/fswen.pdf
- Correctional Service of Canada. (2007a). *Commissioner's Directive 705-6: Correctional planning and criminal profile*. Ottawa, ON: Author.
- Correctional Service of Canada. (2007b). *Commissioner's Directive 705: Intake assessment process.* Ottawa, ON: Author.
- Correctional Service of Canada. (2010). Commissioner's Directive 705-7: Security classification and penitentiary placement. Ottawa, ON: Author.
- Corrections and Conditional Release Act [CCRA]. (1992). Retrieved from http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/C-44.6/
- Farr, K. A. (2000). Classification for female inmates: Moving forward. *Crime & Delinquency*, 46, 3-17.
- Gobeil, R. (2008). Assessing security reclassification with male Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal offenders (Report No. R-203). Ottawa, ON: Correctional Service of Canada. Retrieved from http://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/text/rsrch/reports/r203/r203-eng.pdf
- Gobeil, R., & Barrett, M. R. (2007). Rates of recidivism for women offenders (Report No. R-192). Ottawa, ON: Correctional Service of Canada. Retrieved from http://www.cscscc.gc.ca/text/rsrch/reports/r192/r192-eng.pdf
- Grant, B. A., & Luciani, F. (1998). Security classification using the custody rating scale (Report No. R-67). Ottawa, ON: Correctional Service of Canada. Retrieved from http://www.cscscc.gc.ca/text/rsrch/reports/r67/r67_e.pdf
- Grove, W. M., Zald, D. H., Lebow, B. S., Snitz, B. E., & Nelson, C. (2000). Clinical versus mechanical prediction: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Assessment*, 12, 19-30.
- Hannah-Moffat, K., & Shaw, M. (2001). Taking risks: Incorporating gender and culture into the classification and assessment of federally sentenced women in Canada. Ottawa, ON: Status of Women Canada. Retrieved from http://www.dsppsd.pwgsc.gc.ca/Collection/ SW21-66-2001E.pdf

- Hardyman, P. L., & Van Voorhis, P. (2004). Developing gender-specific classification systems for women offenders (NIC Accession No. 018931). Washington, DC: National Institute of Corrections. Retrieved from http://nicic.gov/pubs/2004/018931.pdf
- Harer, M. D., & Langan, N. P. (2001). Gender differences in predictors of prison violence: Assessing the predictive validity of risk classification system. *Crime & Delinquency*, 47, 513-536.
- Hosmer, D. W. & Lemeshow, S. (2000). *Applied logistic regression* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Wiley.
- Howell, D. (2007). *Statistical methods for Psychology* (7th ed.). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.
- Jackson, M. A. (1999). Canadian Aboriginal women and their 'criminality': The cycle of violence in the context of difference. *The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Criminology*, *32*, 197-208.
- Kane, T. R. (1986). The validity of prison classification: An introduction to practical considerations and research issues. *Crime & Delinquency*, *32*, 367-390.
- Kong, R., & AuCoin, K. (2008). Female offenders in Canada. *Juristat, 28*(1). Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada.
- Kutner, M. H., Nachtsheim, C. J., Neter, J., & Li, W. (2004). *Applied linear statistical models* (4th ed.). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Lowenkamp, C. T., Holsinger, A. M., & Latessa, E. J. (2001). Risk/need assessment, offender classification, and the role of childhood abuse. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 28, 543-563.
- Luciani, F. P., Motiuk, L. L., & Nafekh, M. (1996). An operational review of the custody rating scale: Reliability, validity and practical utility (Report No. R-47). Ottawa, ON: Correctional Service of Canada. Retrieved from http://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/text/rsrch /reports/r47/r47_e.pdf
- Mackenzie, A. & Johnson, S. L. (2003). A profile of women gang members in Canada (Report No. R-138). Ottawa, ON: Correctional Service of Canada. Retrieved from http://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/text/rsrch/reports/r138/r138_e.pdf

- McConville, S., Morris, N., & Rothman, D. (1995). *The oxford history of the prison: The practice of punishment in western society*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Monture-Angus, P. (2000). Aboriginal women and correctional practice: Reflections on the task force on federally sentenced women. In K. Hannah-Moffat & M. Shaw (Eds.), *An ideal prison? Critical essays on women's imprisonment in Canada* (pp. 52 60). Halifax, NS: Fernwood.

Parole Board of Canada. (2009). Parole: Contributing to public safety. Ottawa, ON: Author.

- Perreault, S. (2009). The incarceration of Aboriginal people in adult correctional services. *Juristat, 29*(3). Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada.
- Porporino, F. J., Luciani, F., Motiuk, L., Johnston, M., & Mainwaring, B. (1989). *Pilot implementation of a custody rating scale: Interim report* (Report No. R-02). Ottawa, ON: Correctional Service of Canada.
- Public Safety Canada. (2010). Corrections and conditional release statistical overview: Annual report 2010. Ottawa, ON: Author.
- *R v. Gladue*, 1 S.C.R. 688 (1999).
- Rice, M. E. (1997). Violent offender research and implications for the criminal justice system. *American Psychologist, 52,* 414-423.
- Rugge, T. (2006). *Risk assessment of male Aboriginal offenders: A 2006 perspective*. Ottawa, ON: Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness Canada. Retrieved from http://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/res/cor/rep/_fl/abo-offen-eng.pdf
- Schwab, D. P. (2005). *Research methods for organizational psychology* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Statistics Canada. (2008). *Aboriginal children's survey, 2006: Family, community and child care* (Cat. No. 89-634-X). Ottawa, ON: Author. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/ pub/89-634-x/89-634-x2008001-eng.pdf
- Trevethan, S., Moore, J., & Rastin, C. J. (2002). A profile of Aboriginal offenders in federal facilities and serving time in the community. *Forum on Corrections Research*, 14(3), 17-19.

Van Voorhis, P., & Presser, L. (2001). Classification of women offenders: A national assessment

of current practices (NIC Accession No. 017082). Washington, DC: National Institute of Corrections. Retrieved from http://nicic.gov/pubs/2001/017082.pdf

- Van Voorhis, P., Salisbury, E., Wright, E., & Bauman, A. (2008). Achieving accurate pictures of risk and identifying gender responsive needs: Two new assessments for women offenders (NIC Accession No. 022844). Washington, DC: National Institute of Corrections. Retrieved from http://nicic.gov/Downloads/PDF/Library/022844.pdf
- Webster, C. M., & Doob, A. N. (2004a). Classification without validity or equity: An empirical examination of the custody rating scale for federally sentenced women offenders in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Criminology and Criminal Justice*, 46, 395-421.
- Webster, C. M. & Doob, A. N. (2004b). "Taking down the straw man" or building a house of straw? Validity, equity, and the custody rating scale. *Canadian Journal of Criminology and Criminal Justice*, *46*, 631-638.
- Wright, E. M., Salisbury, E. J., & Van Voorhis, P. (2007). Predicting the prison misconducts of women offenders: The importance of gender-responsive needs. *Journal of Contemporary Criminal Justice*, 23, 310-340.

Appendices

Appendix A: Association of CRS Items with Outcomes of Interest

Table A1

Relationship Between CRS Items and Institutional Incidents

]	Extent of As	sociation (r_{q}	5)
	Abor	riginal	Non-A	Aboriginal
Security Classification	Minor Incident	Major Incident	Minor Incident	Major Incident
Security Risk Subscale				
Number of prior convictions	.07	.16	.09	.06
Most serious outstanding charge	.02	02	04	.04
Severity of current offence	.01	08	.05	03
Sentence length	.07	.03	.01	07
Street stability	.09	.17	.09	.14
Prior parole / statutory release	.08	.11	01	.05
Age at first federal admission	.07	.12	.06	.09
Institutional Adjustment Subscale				
History of institutional incidents	.21	.23	.08	.14
Escape history	.19	.29*	.05	.12
Street stability	.06	.14	.08	.13
Alcohol / drug use	.01	.04	.08	.13
Age at time of sentencing	05	03	.12	.06

Note. $N_{\text{Aboriginal}} = 131$. $N_{\text{Non-Aboriginal}} = 381$. *p < .001 (equivalent to p < .05 after application of Bonferroni correction).

Table A2

Relationship Between CRS Items and Institutional Charges

]	Extent of As	sociation (r_{q}	5)
	Abor	riginal	Non-A	Aboriginal
	Minor	Serious	Minor	Serious
Security Classification	Charge	Charge	Charge	Charge
Security Risk Subscale				
Number of prior convictions	.03	.10	.15	.15
Most serious outstanding charge	01	04	.10	.00
Severity of current offence	04	01	.05	.07
Sentence length	03	.11	01	09
Street stability	.09	.05	.18*	.16
Prior parole / statutory release	.19	.14	.16	.15
Age at first federal admission	.08	.07	.09	.05
Institutional Adjustment Subscale				
History of institutional incidents	.10	.25	.24**	.16
Escape history	.01	.19	.12	.17*
Street stability	.11	.03	.15	.17*
Alcohol / drug use	05	11	.21**	.14
Age at time of sentencing	.09	.03	.11	.09

Note. $N_{\text{Aboriginal}} = 131$. $N_{\text{Non-Aboriginal}} = 381$. *p < .001 (equivalent to p < .05 after application of Bonferroni correction). **p < .0002 (equivalent to p < .01 after application of Bonferroni correction).

Table A3

Relationship between CRS Items and Discretionary Release

	Extent of As	sociation (r_{Φ})
Security Classification	Aboriginal	Non-Aboriginal
Security Risk Subscale		
Number of prior convictions	07	25**
Most serious outstanding charge	07	20**
Severity of current offence	20	05
Sentence length	04	.14
Street stability	40**	23**
Prior parole / statutory release	83**	79**
Age at first federal admission	08	08
Institutional Adjustment Subscale		
History of institutional incidents	38**	41**
Escape history	10	12
Street stability	37**	23**
Alcohol / drug use	18	40**
Age at time of sentencing	07	10

Note. $N_{\text{Aboriginal}} = 122$. $N_{\text{Non-Aboriginal}} = 385$. **p < .0004 (equivalent to p < .01 after application of Bonferroni correction).

		Extent of Ass	sociation (r	(ϕ)
	A	boriginal	Non-	Aboriginal
	Any	Return with	Any	Return with
Security Classification	Return	Offence	Return	Offence
Security Risk Subscale				
Number of prior convictions	03	.23	.19	.05
Most serious outstanding charge	.03	.06	02	.07
Severity of current offence	01	07	13	01
Sentence length	15	06	08	05
Street stability	.12	.06	.09	.02
Prior parole / statutory release	26	22	.08	.14
Age at first federal admission	.09	.07	01	.07
Institutional Adjustment Subscale				
History of institutional incidents	08	.06	.14	.07
Escape history	12	.07	.14	.04
Street stability	.12	.06	.10	.02
Alcohol / drug use	.12	.01	.15	.09
Age at time of sentencing	.05	.03	.01	.05

Table A4

Association of CRS Items and Post-Release Outcome

Note. $N_{\text{Aboriginal}} = 90$. $N_{\text{Non-Aboriginal}} = 263$.

Items
CRS
with
Indicators
and
Domains
of DFIA
Association
ä
Appendix l

				Extent of 1	Association			
			Ι	OFIA Domain	S			
CRS Items	Employment	Marital/ Family	Associates/ Social Interaction	Substance Abuse	Community Functioning	Personal/ Emotional Orientation	Attitude	DFIA Gang Indicator ^a
Security Risk Subscale								
Number of prior convictions	.18	.11	60.	.35	.16	.19	.18	.07
Most serious outstanding charge	60.	00.	.06	.14	.01	.03	.14	.06
Severity of current offence	.10	.18	.08	.07	01	.14	.03	.03
Sentence length	05	.04	11	19	02	.08	03	.03
Street stability	.22	.19	.27	.44	.21	.26	.04	.11
Prior parole / statutory release	.20	.08	.10	.29	.10	.13	.17	.12
Age at first federal admission	.15	60.	.23	.18	.02	00.	.05	.11
Institutional Adjustment Subscale								
History of institutional incidents	.22	60.	60.	.32	.03	.22	.22	.10
Escape history	.10	.08	.05	.29	.06	.16	.16	00.
Street stability	.23	.19	.25	.45	.20	.29	.05	.10
Alcohol / drug use	.20	.16	.26	.72	.10	.20	.05	.06
Age at time of sentencing	.15	.13	.25	.15	.02	00.	04	.12
<i>Note.</i> For the DFIA domains, analyses improvement (DFIA-R only), (2) those (DFIA-R) need for improvement. The g	compared three lev having some (DFI gang membership/a	vels: (1) thos A) or modera dfiliation ind	e with the factor ate (DFIA-R) ne licator was dicho	r seen as an ass ed for improve otomous (yes or	et, no immediate ment, and (3) th r no). Strength c	need for improvose having consideration of a section of a section of the section	/ement, or low derable (DFI/ s calculated u	/ need for A) or a high sing rank-

biserial correlations ($r_{\rm b}$) for the DFIA domains and Cramer's Phi ($r_{\rm b}$) for the gang membership/affiliation indicator. ^a Only 8% (57) of offenders were affiliated with a gang. Therefore, the results of this analysis must be interpreted cautiously.